DIVISION TWO				
STATE OF WASHINGTON,				
Respondent,				
v.				
JONATHAN DUNN,				
Appellant.				
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY The Honorable Michael H. Evans, Judge				
BRIEF OF APPELLANT				

ANDREW P. ZINNER Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State failed to prove appellant Jonathan Dunn was armed with a firearm for purposes of sentence enhancement.
- 2. The trial court denied Dunn's constitutional right to a public trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the State present sufficient evidence showing Dunn was armed with a firearm that was found in a backpack behind the passenger's seat of a pickup truck Dunn was driving?
- 2. The trial court took peremptory challenges at sidebar by having the parties note on a chart which prospective juror they wanted to excuse. The court announced the names of the excused prospective jurors, but did not state which party excused them. Several hours later, the court filed the chart. Did the trial court violate Dunn's right to a public trial?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

At his pre-shift meeting, Longview Police Officer Zachary Ripp learned Jonathan Dunn had a suspended driver's license. He was also told Dunn was known to drive a grey Toyota pickup truck. 3RP 30-31. Ripp

Dunn cites to the verbatim report as follows: 1RP - 1/8/2013 (voir dire); 2RP - 1/8/2013 (opening statements); 3RP - 1/8/2013 (trial proceedings; 4RP - 1/9/2013; 5RP - 1/10/2013; 6RP - 2/7, 2/21/2013.

verified that Dunn's license was suspended and viewed his photograph. 3RP 32.

About 40 minutes later, Ripp observed Dunn drive by in the pickup truck. 3RP 32-34. As Dunn turned into an alley, Ripp turned on his flashing lights and followed Dunn. Dunn did not stop, so Ripp blasted his air horn. 3RP 34. As Dunn continued driving Ripp saw him reaching into the center console in front of him and fidgeting with something. 3RP 36-37. Ripp became concerned for his safety as well as that of his partner, Officer Chris Trevino. 3RP 37, 79-80. Dunn stopped behind a building that Ripp later learned was his residence. 3RP 37-38, 67.

Ripp and Trevino got out of the patrol car and immediately yelled for Dunn to put his arms out the driver's side window. Dunn continued to dig around in the console area before eventually complying. 3RP 38-40. The officers approached the truck, asked Dunn to step out of the vehicle, and arrested him for driving with a suspended license. 3RP 39-40. Ripp searched Dunn incident to the arrest and felt a large, dense object in his pocket. Ripp pulled the object out, which was a stack of bills totaling \$3,940. 3RP 40-41. The officers asked Dunn whether there were drugs in the car. Dunn responded there were not, but that he had smoked marijuana

earlier that day in the truck. 3RP 46, 81-82. Dunn also said he knew he was not supposed to be driving. 3RP 81.

The officers then called for a drug-sniffing dog and the dog's handler, Kevin Sawyer. 3RP 44. Sawyer and the dog responded to the scene. 3RP 82, 114. The dog alerted on the money found in Dunn's pocket and at the truck's door seam. 3RP 115-18. The officers impounded Dunn's truck and transported it to the police station. 3RP 46-47. Ripp transported Dunn to the county jail where he was booked. 3RP 47.

Sawyer obtained a search warrant for the truck. 3RP 118. Ripp and Trevino searched the truck. 3RP 47-48, 83. Trevino found a plastic bag holding 17 pills containing diazepam and 7 pills containing alprazolam in the glove box.² 3RP 83-86; 4RP 57-61. Ripp observed a backpack behind the seats to the driver's right near the passenger side. 3RP 49, 73. The pack was visible and within reach from the driver's seat. 3RP 49, 73. Ripp opined Dunn would have had access to the pack from the driver's seat. 3RP 73. He opened the main area of the pack and found 38 grams of heroin, 27 grams of methamphetamine, 1.2 grams of

² Diazepam, also known as Valium, is a Schedule IV drug. RCW 69.50.210(2)(b)(15); <u>United States v. Gonzalez</u>, 661 F.2d 488, 491 (5th Cir. 1981). Alprazolam, known as Xanax, is also a Schedule IV drug. RCW 69.50.210(2)(b)(1); <u>State v. Zillyette</u>, 173 Wn.2d 784, 785, 270 P.3d 589 (2012).

marijuana, and drug paraphernalia. 3RP 50-56, 4RP 41-42, 48-56. In the smaller front pouch of the pack, Ripp found a loaded .380 pistol. 3RP 58-59.

The State charged Dunn with possession of heroin with intent to deliver within 1,000 feet of a school bus route stop while armed with a firearm, possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver within 1,000 feet of a school bus route stop while armed with a firearm, possession of diazepam, possession of alprazolam, possession of marijuana less than 40 grams, first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and driving with a suspended license. CP 1-4. The State dismissed the traffic charge before trial. 3RP 3.

Officer Trevino testified the amount heroin of and methamphetamine was much larger than what he had typically seen. 3RP 87-88. Officer Sawyer said the amounts found were not those of a drug 3RP 119-24. He estimated an ounce of either heroin or user. methamphetamine costs from \$1,000 to \$1,300. 3RP 126. Sawyer said drug dealers often arm themselves with a gun to minimize their chances of getting robbed of their drugs and money. 3RP 128-30.

Dunn's wife, Angela Hylton, and David Holmes, an acquaintance, testified on Dunn's behalf. Hylton testified Dunn did not have a bank

account and was paid in cash by two employers around the time of his arrest. 4RP 82-86.

Holmes testified Dunn agreed to give him a ride to a house near where Dunn ended up getting stopped by Ripp. 4RP 101-03. As he placed his bicycle in the truck's bed, Holmes observed a backpack in the bed and asked Dunn if he could use it "to lighten the load a little bit." 4RP 103. Holmes had been riding his bicycle with a loaded .380 in his waistband and an ounce of methamphetamine, an ounce-and-a-half of heroin, and a box containing drug paraphernalia in his pockets. 4RP 104-06; 130-42. Dunn gave permission to use the pack, and Holmes placed the gun and contents of his pockets inside. He put the pack behind the passenger's seat. 4RP 103-04.

When Dunn dropped him off at his destination, Holmes retrieved his bicycle, but left the backpack inside the truck. 4RP 107-08. After a few minutes, Holmes remembered the pack, went around to where Dunn had parked, and saw that Dunn had driven off. 4RP 108-09. Holmes planned to call Dunn later to retrieve his contraband. 4RP 109. Holmes said he had not collaborated with Dunn to concoct a story about the items in the backpack. 4RP 113-14, 119-20. He said, "I just know that I don't want someone else to go down for something that was mine." 4RP 114.

The jury apparently did not believe Holmes. It found Dunn guilty as charged. CP 54-63. The trial court imposed a sentence totaling 308 months, 192 of which were for the school zone and firearm enhancements. CP 64-79; 6RP 24-33.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE DUNN WAS "ARMED" WITH A FIREARM AT THE TIME HE COMMITTED THE OTHER CRIMES.

For purposes of sentence enhancement, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant committed the offenses charged while armed with a firearm. State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 898, 225 P.3d 913 (2010). A person is "armed" when he is within proximity of an easily and readily available firearm for offensive or defensive purposes and when a nexus is established between the accused, the weapon, and the crime. State v. O'Neal, 159 Wn.2d 500, 503-04, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007); State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993). The State failed to show the gun inside the backpack found behind and to the right of Dunn was easily accessible and readily available. His 72-month sentencing enhancements for possessing heroin and methamphetamine with the intent to deliver must be vacated.

Officer Ripp testified as he followed Dunn's truck in the alley with his lights flashing, he saw Dunn reaching into the center console "fidgeting around with something[.]" 3RP 36-37. After Dunn stopped the truck, Ripp and Trevino yelled for Dunn to show his hands. Dunn did not immediately comply and continued "digging around" in the truck. 3RP 38-39. Dunn eventually put his hands at the driver's side window. The officers approached and Dunn stepped out of the truck. 3RP 39-40.

Ripp searched the truck after it was impounded. 3RP 47. He observed a backpack behind the seats to the driver's right near the passenger side. 3RP 49, 73. The pack was visible and within reach from the driver's seat. 3RP 49, 73. Ripp opined Dunn would have had access to the pack from the driver's seat. 3RP 73. He opened the main area of the pack and found drugs and paraphernalia. 3RP 50. He found the loaded pistol in the smaller front pouch of the pack. 3RP 50.

Courts are particularly careful when reviewing a challenge to a firearm enhancement because of the constitutional right to bear arms. State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d 488, 493, 150 P.3d 1116 (2007). Whether a person is armed is a mixed question of law and fact that this Court reviews de novo. <u>State v. Ague-Masters</u>, 138 Wn. App. 86, 102, 156 P.3d 265 (2007). <u>State v. Gurske</u>³ is analogous.

A police officer stopped Gurske for making an illegal turn, learned his license was suspended, and arrested him for driving with a suspended license. He handcuffed Gurske, searched him, and placed him in the back of his patrol car. 155 Wn.2d at 136. A second officer arrived, and the officers conducted an inventory search before impounding Gurske's truck. One of the officers pulled the front seat forward and saw a backpack behind the driver's seat. The pack was within arm's reach of the driver's position, but removable only by either getting out of the truck or moving into the passenger seat. The officer unzipped the main portion of the backpack and saw a torch. Under the torch was a holster containing an unloaded pistol. A fully loaded magazine for the pistol was also found in the backpack. After removing the backpack from the truck, the officer found three grams of methamphetamine inside. Id.

The Court observed that use for offensive or defensive purposes could be to facilitate commission of the crime, escape, protect contraband, or prevent investigation, discovery, or apprehension by the police. 155 Wn.2d at 139. The Court found the evidence did not show whether

³ 155 Wn.2d 134, 118 P.3d 333 (2005).

Gurske could unzip the backpack, remove the torch, and remove the pistol from the driver's seat where he was sitting at the time he was stopped by the police officer. Nor was there evidence that Gurske moved toward the backpack. Finally, there was no evidence Gurske had used or had easy access to use the weapon against another person when he acquired or was in possession of the methamphetamine. 155 Wn.2d at 143. It concluded the State failed to prove the pistol was easily accessible and readily available for use. <u>Id</u>.

As in Gerske, Dunn constructively possessed the gun inside a backpack found within reaching distance in the cab of a pickup truck. Other similarities are the lack of evidence indicating Dunn moved toward the pack as officers observed him or showing Dunn used or had easy access to use the gun when he acquired the drugs. 3RP 70. Although Ripp testified Dunn could reach the pack from the driver's seat, he did not say whether Dunn could have unzipped the front, smaller pouch of the pack and removed the gun from the driver's seat in the short time he had after fidgeting around in the center console in front of him and before putting his hands at the window.

The "mere presence" of a gun at the crime scene, "mere close proximity of the gun to the defendant, or constructive possession alone is

not enough to show the defendant is armed." State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 431, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). That is all the State showed here. This is not a case where, for example, the accused could have grabbed the gun simply by reaching down to the floorboard. See State v. Sabala, 44 Wn. App. 444, 448, 723 P.2d 5 (1986) (driver was "armed" where the loaded handgun lay beneath the driver's seat with the grip easily accessible to the driver).

Additionally, Dunn had been arrested and booked into jail before the officers searched the backpack and found the gun. See State v. Ague-Masters, 138 Wn. App. 86, 104, 156 P.3d 265 (2007) (finding evidence was insufficient to show firearms in a safe were easily accessible and readily available in part because police had already arrested defendant when they found the guns and there was no evidence he attempted to use or had used one of the firearms for offensive or defensive purposes).

Finally, a firearm enhancement must be supported by sufficient evidence to find the firearm operable. State v. Pierce, 155 Wn. App. 701, 714, 230 P.3d 237 (2010). But see State v. Wade, 133 Wn. App. 855, 873, 138 P.3d 168 (2006) ("Operability is not required for a gun to be a 'firearm."), review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1002 (2007)). There was no testimony here the gun from the backpack could actually fire a round.

Under the facts at hand, the State failed to prove the pistol was easily accessible and readily available for use. This Court should so find, reverse the jury findings to the contrary, and remand the judgment and sentence with an order to vacate the firearm enhancements.

2. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED DUNN'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY TAKING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN PRIVATE.

The trial court took peremptory challenges of prospective jurors at sidebar. Because exercising peremptory challenges is part of voir dire, and because the trial court failed to apply the <u>Bone-Club</u>⁴ factors, the court violated Dunn's constitutional right to a public trial.

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 guarantee the accused a public trial by an impartial jury. Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 213, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 261-62. There is a strong presumption courts must be open at all stages of the trial. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

Whether a trial court has violated the defendant's public trial right violation is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. <u>State v. Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514, 122 P.3d 150 (2005). A trial court may

⁴ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

restrict the right only "under the most unusual circumstances." <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 259. Before a court can close any part of a trial, it must first apply the five factors set forth in <u>Bone-Club</u>. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Orange</u>, 152 Wn.2d 795, 806-07, 809, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). Violation of this right is presumed prejudicial even when not preserved by objection. <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 16, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012).

"The process of juror selection is itself a matter of importance, not simply to the adversaries but to the criminal justice system." Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 505, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984) (Press-Enterprise I). Washington courts have repeatedly held that jury voir dire conducted in private violates the right to public trial. See, e.g., Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 15; State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 35, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012); State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (Alexander, C.J., lead opinion); 167 Wn.2d at 231-36 (Fairhurst, J., concurring); State v. Erickson, 146 Wn. App. 200, 211, 189 P.3d 245 (2008), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1031 (2013).

In Dunn's case, the parties exercised peremptory challenges at sidebar in the jury's presence. 1RP 111-12. The process was not transcribed. 1RP 112. The trial court did not first consider the <u>Bone-Club</u> factors before deciding the live peremptory challenge process should be

shielded from public sight and hearing. Neither party objected to this portion of jury selection. After the parties exercised their challenges, the trial court named in court those prospective jurors who had been excused. 1RP 112-13. About three hours later, the court filed a chart showing which party excused which prospective juror. Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 25, Struck Juror List, filed 1/8/2013); Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 24, Jury Trial Minutes, at 2 of 3, 1/8/2013).

This Court must first determine whether a criminal defendant's public trial right applies to the exercise of peremptory challenges. To decide whether a particular process must be open, this Court uses the "experience and logic" test formulated by the United States Supreme Court in Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 8, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986) (Press-Enterprise II). Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73.

State v. Jones⁵ is illuminating in this regard. In that case, during a trial recess, the court clerk randomly pulled names of four sitting jurors from a rotating cylinder to determine which would be alternates. The court announced the names of the four alternate jurors following closing arguments and excused these jurors. Jones, 175 Wn. App. at 95. The

⁵ <u>State v. Jones</u> 175 Wn. App. 87, 303 P.3d 1084, <u>petition for review pending</u>, No. 89321-7 (2013).

alternate juror drawing happened off the record and outside of the trial proceedings. <u>Jones</u>, 175 Wn. App. at 96.

Jones challenged this process on appeal. Following <u>Sublett</u>, the court concluded that the Washington experience of alternate juror selection is connected to voir dire. Alternate juror selection, the court held, must be open to the public. <u>Jones</u>, 175 Wn. App. at 101.

As for the logic prong, the court wrote, "The issue is not that the drawing in this case was a result of manipulation or chicanery on the part of the court staff member who performed the task, but that the drawing could have been." Jones, 175 Wn. App. at 102. The court found that two of the purposes for the public trial right -- basic fairness to the defendant and reminding the trial court of the importance of its functions – were implicated. Id. The court held the secret random drawing raised important questions about "the overall fairness of the trial, and indicates that court personnel should be reminded of the importance of their duties." Id. The court therefore concluded that under the experience and logic test, a closure occurred. Id.

Finally, the court held that because the trial court did not apply the Bone-Club factors, it violated Jones' public trial right. Because such error is presumed prejudicial, a new trial was required. <u>Id</u>. at 1192-93.

Applying the Jones reasoning to Dunn's case dictates the same result. Under the "experience" prong, the court asks whether the process has historically been open to the press and general public. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. Washington's experience of providing for and exercising peremptory challenges is one "connected to the voir dire process for jury selection." See White v. Territory, 3 Wash. Terr. 397, 406, 19 P. 37 (1888) ("Our system provides for examination of persons called into the jury-box as to their qualifications to serve as such. The evidence is heard by the court, and the question of fact is decided by the court."); State v. Rutten, 13 Wash. 203, 204, 43 P. 30 (1895) (discussing remedy if trial court wrongfully compelled accused to exhaust peremptory challenges on prospective jurors who should have been dismissed for cause); State v. Rivera, 108 Wn. App. 645, 649-50, 32 P.3d 292 (2001) ("[P]eremptory challenge is a part of our common law heritage, and one that was already venerable in Blackstone's time."), review denied, 146 Wn.2d 1006 (2002), overruled on other grounds, Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 71-72.

The exercise of peremptory challenges, like "for cause" challenges, is a traditional component of voir dire to which public trial rights attach. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 11; State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 342-343, 298 P.3d 148 (2013).

Under the logic prong, courts consider the values served by open court proceedings, and ask "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73 (quoting Press-Enterprise, 478 U.S. at 8). Open proceedings serve to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the defendant and the importance of their duties, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514.

Just as did the secret random alternate juror selection in <u>Jones</u>, the secret peremptory challenge process used at Dunn's trial involved the first two purposes. The public lacked the assurance that Dunn and the excused prospective jurors were treated fairly. As well, requiring the parties to voice their peremptory challenges in public at the time they are made reminds them of the importance of the process and its effect on the panel chosen to sit in judgment.

Peremptory challenges permit the parties to strike prospective jurors "who are not challengeable for cause but in whom the parties may perceive bias or hostility-thereby eliminating extremes of partiality on both sides-and to assure the parties that the jury will decide on the basis of the evidence at trial and not otherwise." Rivera, 108 Wn. App. at 649-50

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