NO. 44572-7-II
Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 12-1-00992-6

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN DUNN,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
JAMES B. SMITH/WSBA 35537
Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address:
Hall of Justice
312 S. W. First Avenue
Kelso, WA 98626
Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

Moreover, as in Eckenrode, there was ample evidence from which the jury could conclude the appellant was armed with the pistol to protect his criminal enterprise of dealing narcotics. The appellant was in

¹ Exhibit 1, 2, and 3 have been transmitted for this Court's review. These photographs depict the interior of the truck where the backpack was located.

possession of a large amount of cash, almost \$4,000, and the jury found that he possessed the heroin and methamphetamine with intent to deliver. The pistol was found in the same bag as the narcotics. Plainly, there was a nexus between the pistol and the underlying crime.

Given the evidence, there is more than sufficient evidence to support the jury's special verdicts that the appellant was armed with a firearm. The appellant has failed to meet his burden of showing otherwise, and his argument should be rejected by this Court. See Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d at 496.

Finally, the appellant argues the firearm enhancement must be vacated because the pistol was not proven to be operable, citing to State v. Pierce, 155 Wn.App. 701, 714, 230 P.3d 237 (2010). In Pierce, this Court reversed the defendant's firearm enhancement where the jury was not instructed on definition of "firearm" in RCW 9.41.010(7) and the jury actually returned special verdicts for deadly weapon enhancements instead of firearm enhancements. 155 Wn.App. at 714. Since the jury in the instant case was instructed that it must find the weapon at issue was a firearm under RCW 9.41.010(7), Pierce is immediately distinguishable. 4RP 195. Furthermore, as the enhancements in Pierce were already reversed on other grounds, the court's further holding that there was insufficient evidence for the firearm enhancements is non-binding dicta.

Indeed, there is no requirement that operability of the firearm actually be proven. State v. Raleigh, 157 Wn.App. 728, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010). Instead, the question is whether the item at issue is an actual firearm, as defined in RCW 9.41.010(7), or a toy gun or other non-firearm. This has been the law in Washington since State v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 613 P.2d 121 (1980), and State v. Pam, 98 Wn.2d 748, 659 P.2d 454 (1983).

This Court recognized the same in State v. Faust, 93 Wn.App. 373, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998), holding that a firearm enhancement was properly imposed where the firearm at issue was incapable of firing due to a mechanical defect. As the item at issue was an actual firearm, a gun in fact, the firearm enhancement was properly imposed. Faust, 93 Wn.App. at 380. See also State v. Berrier, 110 Wn.App. 639, 41 P.3d 1198 (2002) (this Court held that an inoperable firearm is still a firearm if it is a gun in fact); State v. Mathe, 35 Wn.App. 572, 668 P.2d 599 (1983) (evidence sufficient where firearm was not discharged or recovered, but witnesses testified it was an actual gun.) As there was ample evidence that the gun was an actual firearm, and it was loaded with live cartridges, the appellant's argument should be rejected by this Court.

II. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Appellant's Right to a Public Trial.

The appellant argues that the trial court closed the courtroom to the public by conducting peremptory challenges at sidebar using a written form. The appellant alleges this practice violated Article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution as well as the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.² However, the practice complained of did not amount to a closure of the courtroom, under the standard announced in State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012), and the appellant failed to preserve any alleged error for appeal. As such, this Court should reject any claim of error.

a. Exercising Peremptory Challenges at Sidebar Using a Written Form Does Not Constitute a "Closure" of the Courtroom.

Where a public trial violation is asserted, the reviewing court must first consider whether (1) the proceeding at issue implicates the public trial right and (2) did a closure actually occur. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). The Washington Supreme Court has observed that "not every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial, or constitute a closure if closed to the public." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 71.

² The appellant does not argue the applicability of the decree of Article 1 § 10 of the Washington Constitution that "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly."

In Sublett, the court announced a new test under Washington law for whether a particular proceeding implicates the public trial right, rejecting the prior test employed by the Court of Appeals. Id. at 71-72; citing to Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 US. 1, 106 S.Ct. 2735, 92 L.Ed.2d 1 (1986). The new test uses experience and logic to determine if the public trial right attaches to a specific proceeding. The experience prong asks “whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public” while the logic prong asks “whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question.” Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. The answer to both questions must be “yes” for the public trial right to attach. Id. The party asserting the violation of public trial right bears the burden of proof on this issue. Id. at 75.

Using this test, the Sublett court found that the public trial right does not attach to counsel meeting with the trial judge in chambers to answer a question from a deliberating jury. Id. Notably, such proceedings have not historically been conducted in an open courtroom. Id. at 75. Also, the court’s answer to the jury was recorded in writing, thus becoming part of the public record and reminding the court and counsel of their duties. Id. at 77. Given this, the experience and logic test was not satisfied and the defendant failed to establish a public trial violation.

Here, the appellant argues his public trial right was violated because peremptory challenges were exercised by writing on a form at sidebar rather than orally announcing the challenges. Brief of appellant at 18-21. However, the appellant fails prove that both prongs of the “experience and logic” test support the public trial right attaching to the exercise of peremptory challenges. This burden is the *appellant’s* to meet with actual evidence and proof, rather than argument and conjecture. See Sublett, at 176 Wn.2d at 75-76.

Preliminarily, the State disputes that any closure whatsoever occurred. A closure occurs “when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave.” State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). The exercise of peremptory challenges occurred in an open courtroom and in the presence of the appellant and whatever members of the public, if any, desired to be there. The fact that the challenges were exercised at sidebar using a written document does not amount to the type of courtroom closure contemplated by State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995), as there was no actual sealing of the courtroom, exclusion of persons, or an affirmative action by the trial court to actually bar the public from attending.

Assuming, for the sake of argument, a closure actually did occur, the Court must examine the process at issue. The nature of exercise of peremptory challenges are governed by CrR 6.4(e):

(1) Peremptory Challenges Defined. A peremptory challenge is an objection to a juror for which there is no reason given, but upon which the court shall exclude the juror. In prosecutions for capital offenses the defense and the state may challenge peremptorily 12 jurors each; in prosecution for offenses punishable by imprisonment in the state Department of Corrections 6 jurors each; in all other prosecutions, 3 jurors each. When several defendants are on trial together, each defendant shall be entitled to one challenge in addition to the number of challenges provided above, with discretion in the trial judge to afford the prosecution such additional challenges as circumstances warrant.

(2) Peremptory Challenges--How Taken. After prospective jurors have been passed for cause, peremptory challenges shall be exercised alternately first by the prosecution then by each defendant until the peremptory challenges are exhausted or the jury accepted. Acceptance of the jury as presently constituted shall not waive any remaining peremptory challenges to jurors subsequently called.

Notably, CrR 6.4 does not prescribe the exact process and form by which peremptory challenges are to be exercised, i.e. orally, in writing, at sidebar, etc. The appellant offers absolutely no caselaw or proof that the use of a written form to exercise peremptory challenges violates the longstanding history and experience of the courts of Washington. In fact, the only authority offered by the appellant on the prevalence of one method over another, State v. Thomas, 16 Wn.App. 1, 553 P.2d 1357 (1976), actually indicates that the use of written peremptory challenges

was common place. Indeed, Thomas explicitly rejected a public trial violation claim for this practice. 16 Wn.App. at 13. Thus, the appellant has not even attempted to meet his burden of showing that the exercise of peremptory challenges has historically been conducted orally or open to the press and public. The appellant *must* make this showing to satisfy the “experience” prong of the Sublett test. Again, the appellant must meet his burden on both prongs for his claim to succeed.

Turning to the “logic” prong of the Sublett test, the appellant again fails to offer any evidence or authority to support an argument that logic dictates the exercise of peremptory challenges be conducted orally, rather than in writing or sidebar. For this prong, the question is whether “public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question.” Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. The sole point advanced by the appellant is that the oral exercise of peremptory challenges would allow the public to discern whether the parties were challenging protected classes of jurors improperly. Brief of Appellant at 20-22.

This argument is inherently fanciful, as the public cannot challenge the exercise of peremptory challenges in the midst of trial, or at any point thereafter. Contrary to the appellant’s brief, the public does not have any “oversight” authority over a trial. Brief of Appellant at 21. The public may not raise objections to the conduct of the trial. The *defendant* may do so,

and the appellant's failure to raise such an objection in this case is proof that no such misconduct occurred.

Moreover, the actual struck list used in this case includes the names of the jurors, so that the public would be able to identify the prospective jurors after the fact if there was a desire to investigate their race, gender, or other demographic information. Supp. CP ____ (sub no. 25, Struck Juror List, filed 1/8/2013). Though the appellant's argument may identify a hypothetical benefit to the oral exercise of peremptory challenges, this is a far cry from proving it would have a "*significant* positive role in the functioning of the particular process" as required by Sublett. Indeed, the struck list, with its written record of the parties' challenges, is a part of the public record of the trial. As with the jury question in Sublett, the written form satisfies the need for openness, and the appellant has failed to show otherwise.

This conclusion is further supported by the decision in State v. Love, 176 Wn.App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). In Love, the defendant advanced the exact issue before the Court in this case, the use of a written form to exercise peremptory challenges. After a thorough and searching review of the caselaw and historical practices, the Love court found the defendant had failed to show that under the "experience and logic" test the public trial right attached to the exercise of peremptory challenges. 176

Wn.App. at 920. Though the appellant takes issue with the Love decision, he fails to point to any caselaw or history ignored by the court. This inability to meaningfully distinguish Love undermines the appellant's argument, and this Court should reject it and follow the Love decision.

b. If There Was a Closure, Any Error Was Not Preserved for Appeal.

If the Court should find there was a closure of the courtroom on matters that implicate the right to a public trial, the appellant is still not entitled to a new trial as he failed to object and thereby preserve the error for review by this court. The Court should thus decline to consider this issue for the first time on appeal.

In State v. Collins, 50 Wn.2d 740, 314 P.2d 660 (1957) the trial court locked the courtroom door to prevent spectators' distracting the jury during closing arguments by filing in and out of the courtroom. 50 Wn.2d at 746. The defendant did not object at trial but on appeal he claimed a violation of his right to a public trial. Id.

The court refused to consider this argument for the first time on appeal. In doing so, the court distinguished between rulings that clearly violate the right to an open trial versus those rulings that involve the exercise of discretion. Id. at 747-748. The court held that a discretionary

ruling on courtroom closure must be objected to, whereas an order that clearly violates the right to a public trial can be reviewed absent an objection. The Collins decision is still binding precedent in Washington, as it has not been overruled by any subsequent public trial case. The holding is reproduced below in its entirety:

If an order of a trial court clearly deprives a defendant of his right to a public trial, as in People v. Jelke, 1954, 308 N.Y. 56, 123 N.E.2d 769, 48 A.L.R.2d 1425 [where both the public and the press were excluded from the whole trial], it is unnecessary for the defendant to raise the question by objection at the time of trial. State v. Marsh, 1923, 126 Wn. 142, 145-146, 217 P. 705.

However, if, as in the present case, a reasonable number of people are in attendance and there has been no partiality or favoritism in their admission, an order excluding the admittance of others may be entered if justification exists. The issue then becomes whether the trial court abused its discretion in so ordering, i. e., whether the order complained of was necessary to prevent interference with the orderly procedure of the trial. *Where the ruling is discretionary, a defendant who does not object when the ruling is made waives his right to raise the issue thereafter.* Keddington v. State, 1918, 19 Ariz. 457, 462, 172 P. 273, L.R.A.1918D, 1093. A trial court is entitled to know that its exercise of discretion is being challenged; otherwise, it may well believe that both sides have acquiesced in its ruling. (We would add that this is a discretion that should be sparingly exercised; even the suspicion of an invasion of a defendant's constitutional right to a public trial should be avoided.)

There is here no claim of actual prejudice; there was no objection to the discretionary ruling. We are satisfied that the defendant did have a public trial within the purview of our constitutional provisions.

Id. at 747-48 (italics added).

Collins has never been abrogated. Nor has it been established that Collins should be overruled because it is incorrect and harmful. See In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). Here, where it is not at all clear that the courtroom was actually closed, it cannot be said that that the process used “clearly deprive[d] a defendant of his right to a public trial” such that no objection would be necessary. For these reasons, this Court should hold that the appellant, like the defendant in Collins, failed to preserve a claim of error as to the trial court's discretionary ruling.

Furthermore, allowing the appellant to advance this claim on appeal, after having failed to object at trial, is plainly contrary to RAP 2.5(a)(3). There no showing, or even claim, of prejudice to the appellant in this case. To allow the appellant to participate in a process at trial and then seize upon the practice to win a new trial is illogical, inefficient, and unjust. See United States v. Bansal, 663 F.3d 634, 661 (3rd Cir. 2011) (allowing defendant to raise public trial violation for the first time on appeal described as “classic sandbagging of the trial judge.”) Based on these precedents and the record of this case, the Court should find that the appellant failed to preserve whatever error may have occurred at trial.